2001

# Judith Campbell Jackson v. Robert Mateus and Kris Mateus : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j), as amended.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED**

**Issue #1:** Whether on defendants' motion for summary judgment, the plaintiff presented sufficient evidence to make out a prima facie case of negligence against the Mateuses for their failure to control and/or restrain their cat so as to prevent the cat's attack on Mrs. Jackson.

**Standard of Review for Issue #1:** The Supreme Court reviews the trial court's summary judgment ruling for correctness. Kessler v. Mortenson, 16 P.3d 1225, 1226 (Utah 2000). The appellate court considers only whether the trial court correctly applied the law and correctly concluded that no disputed issues of material fact existed. Aurora Credit Servs., Inc. v. Liberty W. Dev., Inc., 970 P.2d 1273, 1277 (Utah 1998). This is the standard of review applied because summary judgment is appropriate only "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c).

**Issue #2:** Whether the trial court erred in ruling, as a matter of law, that no

genuine issue of material exists regarding whether the Mateuses had any duty to control or restrain their cat, or to prevent their cat's attack.

**Standard of Review for Issue #2:** The issue of "whether a 'duty' exists is a question of law" which appellate courts review for correctness. Weber v. Springville City, 725 P.2d 1360, 1363 (Utah 1986). Moreover, when deciding whether the trial court correctly found that there was no genuine issue of material fact, appellate courts review the facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the losing party. See id. Additionally, because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, appellate courts give the trial court's legal conclusions no deference and review the decision for correctness. See White v. Gary L. Deseelhorst, NP Ski Corp., 879 P.2d 1371, 1374 (Utah 1994).

**Issue #3:** Whether the trial court erred in ruling, as a matter of law, that there were no disputed material facts regarding whether the Mateuses' cat's attack on Mrs. Jackson was unforeseeable.

**Standard of Review for Issue #3:** See Standards of Review for Issue #2.

**Issue #4:** Whether the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that defendants did not violate Salt Lake County Ordinances, §§ 8.24.010, 8.04.210, and 8.24.030.

**Standard of Review for Issue #4:** An appellate court grants a trial court's construction of statutes or ordinances no deference, but reviews the decision for correctness. See Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 947 P.2d 658, 661 (Utah 1997). Moreover, whether a statute applies to a particular set of facts is a question of law that an appellate court reviews de novo. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 938 (Utah 1994); see also State v. Waite, 803 P.2d 1279, 1282 (Utah 1990).

**Issue #5:** Whether the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that the Mateuses' cat was lawfully on the Jackson's property when the attack occurred.

**Standard of Review for Issue #5:** See Standard of Review for Issue No. #1.

**Issue #6:** Whether the trial court erred in holding as a matter of law that a cat is allowed one free bite before its owners may be held liable for injuries inflicted by the cat.

**Standard of Review for Issue #6:** See Standard of Review for Issue No. #1.

### **STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES**

Utah Code Ann. § 4-25-4

Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-64

Utah Code Ann. § 18-1-1 (1998)

Salt Lake County Ordinance § 8.24.010

Salt Lake County Ordinance § 8.24.030

Salt Lake County Ordinance § 8.04.210

Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure

Rule 801, Utah Rules of Evidence

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings**

On January 15, 1996, the Mateuses' cat attacked Judith Campbell Jackson, who was severely injured by the unprovoked attack. Mrs. Jackson brought an action in the Third District Court against the Mateuses for negligence in failing to restrain and control their pet. Mrs. Jackson appeals from the district court's grant of summary judgment for the Mateuses on all of Mrs. Jackson's claims.

### **Statement of Facts**

This case arises out of an unprovoked attack by the Mateuses' cat on Mrs. Jackson during the early morning hours of January 15, 1996. (R. 128). The attack occurred on Mrs. Jackson's own property, just outside of a sliding glass door which leads from the Jacksons' living room to a second story deck. (R. 128). Mrs. Jackson mistook the Mateuses' cat for her own cat, and opened the sliding glass door. (R. 129.) She called out the name of her cat, and extended her hand. (R. 129). The Mateuses' cat approached Mrs. Jackson, and she briefly petted the cat and then recognized that it was not hers. (R. 129). The Mateuses' cat suddenly attacked Mrs.

Jackson, inflicting severe bites and scratches to Mrs. Jackson's hand and arm. (R. 129, 160-61). At no time did Mrs. Jackson provoke the cat. (R. 160). At no time did the Jacksons ever grant authorization to the Mateuses to allow the cat on the Jacksons' property. (R. 163-66).

Mrs. Jackson identified the cat that attacked her as a "[y]ellow tiger tabby, wearing a collar, green, at least in part with a bell, well nourished, gender unknown." (R. 161). Richard Jackson, her husband, following directions of Salt Lake County animal control personnel, set traps soon after the attack, and trapped a cat exactly matching the description given by Mrs. Jackson. (R. 161). The trapped cat was taken to animal control, where the Jacksons encountered Robert Mateus, the Jacksons' neighbor. (R. 161-62.) Although the Mateuses have made some attempt to deny ownership of the cat that attacked and injured Mrs. Jackson, both Mrs. Jackson and her husband heard Mr. Mateus state that the cat that had been trapped was "clearly" his cat. (R. 161-62.) For purposes of their summary judgment motion, the Mateuses did not dispute ownership of the cat. (R. 130.)

After the Mateuses' cat attacked Mrs. Jackson, the cat was often seen in the Jacksons' yard. (R. 163). Mr. Jackson encountered the Mateuses' cat on his backyard deck near their patio door. (R. 163). He donned a pair of heavy leather gloves and proceeded to scratch the cat under the chin. (R. 163). The cat leaned into him apparently



enjoying the attention and then suddenly attacked Mr. Jackson's hand. (R. 163-64.)

Based on the record of evidence, every time the Mateuses' cat has encountered a person, other than the Mateuses, an attack has occurred. (R. 160-61, 163-64). Subsequent to the second attack by their cat, the Mateuses continued to allow the cat to roam free, and the cat was routinely seen in the Jacksons' yard. (R. 165).

The bites inflicted by the Mateuses' cat forced Mrs. Jackson to undergo surgery on her hand to combat the severe infection that resulted from the bites. (R. 166). Dr. Vanderhoof, the doctor who performed the surgery on Mrs. Jackson, stated in his deposition that cat bites are particularly virulent because cats have long, sharp teeth, and the animals' mouths are filthy and contain bacteria that causes severe infections. (R. 166). Dr. Vanderhoof also stated that cat bites tended to be more problematic, in terms of resulting serious infections, than dog bites. (R. 166).

Prior to being attacked by the Mateuses' cat, Mrs. Jackson had a medically stable autoimmune disorder. (R. 165-66.) The severe and widespread infection inflicted by the cat bites resulted in throwing the autoimmune disorder into a state of medical instability, and caused her to have to undergo several surgeries. (R. 166). In 1998, Mrs. Jackson was forced to undergo a procedure on her esophagus that was closed up by strictures, which left her with a severely painful throat. (R. 167). In 1999, Mrs. Jackson was required to have her submandibular salivary glands removed due to their propensity to

become infected as a direct result of the aggravation of her autoimmune disorder. (R. 167). The removal of the submandibular salivary glands deprived Mrs. Jackson of the ability to produce saliva. (R. 167). Now Mrs. Jackson is prone to oral lesions, and develops bone spurs in her mouth that must be removed periodically. (R. 167).

In addition, as a result of the cat attack and resulting infection, Mrs. Jackson developed Frey's syndrome, which causes gustatory salivation. (R. 167). The condition causes the nerve endings from the parotid glands to attach to the sweat glands in the side of the face and resulted in the production of drenching sweat on the sides of Mrs. Jackson's face when she ate. (R. 167). Mrs. Jackson was forced to undergo surgery in which her sternocleidomastoid muscle was dissected and a portion of the muscle was pulled into her cheek to create a barrier between the nerve endings and the sweat glands to correct the condition. (R. 167). The surgery left a noticeable scar along Mrs. Jackson's jaw line just below her ear. (R. 167-68).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The district court erred in granting the Mateuses' motion for summary judgment because it had evidence of negligence on the part of the Mateuses. The district court failed to apply the common law which requires animal owners to exercise reasonable control over their animals and prevent injuries to others. This rule of law was discussed

in the case of Pullan v. Steinmetz, 16 P.3d 1245 (Utah 2000), but not applied, as articulated in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518.

The court below also erred in failing to hold that the Mateuses were negligent for violating Salt Lake County Ordinances, which are safety statutes designed to prevent attacks by animals. The ordinances impose liability for animal owners' negligence regardless of the owner's knowledge of an animal's propensity to bite. A jury considering such statutes could have found that the Mateuses were negligent in failing to control their cat and prevent the attack on Mrs. Jackson.

The Mateuses argued, and the district court agreed that a cat is entitled to one free bite before liability may be imposed on the owner. The one free bite rule is falling into disfavor in many jurisdictions as evidenced by the enactment of strict liability dog bite statutes. There is no logical or just reason why cat owners should be allowed to escape liability when dog owners are held liable for the first bite of their pets. The reasons articulated in Pullan by the Court for not extending liability under the dog bite statute to horse owners do not apply to cats. As predatory animals capable of inflicting serious and life changing injuries, cats should be treated in a manner similar to dogs. The Mateuses should be held liable for failing to control their pet and for allowing it to attack and severely injure Mrs. Jackson.

## **RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL**

The Court should reverse the judgment of the trial court that granted summary judgment to the defendants, and the case should be allowed to go to trial and have a jury decide the disputed factual issues.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **POINT I.**

#### **MRS. JACKSON'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS AGAINST THE MATEUSES SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DECIDED ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT.**

- a. Summary judgment is rarely the appropriate procedure for resolving a negligence claim.**

The trial court erred in stripping Mrs. Jackson of her right to have her negligence claims against the Mateuses heard before a jury. Mrs. Jackson has presented evidence showing that the defendants were negligent in allowing their cat to injure her. This Court has ruled that summary judgment is rarely an appropriate remedy for resolving negligence actions, Williams v. Melby, 699 P.2d 723, 728 (Utah 1985), and this case does not present the rare situation where summary judgment for the defendant was clear or unmistakable.

The trial court also erred in usurping the jury's prerogative to determine whether the Mateuses breached the required standard of care, as that question is generally a jury

question, Jackson v. Dabney, 645 P.2d 613 (Utah 1982), to be determined by whether the injury which occurred was of the type that fell within the zone of risk created by the defendants' negligent conduct. "The care to be exercised in any particular case depends upon the circumstances of that case and on the extent of foreseeable danger involved and must be determined as a question of fact." DCR Inc. v. Peak Alarm Co., 663 P.2d 433, 435 (Utah 1983); see also Eaton v. Savage, 502 P.2d 564 (Utah 1972); Wheeler v. Jones, 431 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1967).

**b. Summary judgment was improperly granted where Mrs. Jackson presented a prima facie case of negligence against the Mateuses.**

A prima facie case of negligence requires a showing of: (1) a duty of reasonable care extending to plaintiff; (2) breach of that duty; (3) proximate and actual causation of the injury; and (4) damages suffered by plaintiff. Williams, 699 P.2d at 726. The court erred in finding that Mrs. Jackson did not present a prima facie case of negligence against the Mateuses. Specifically, the district court erred in holding that the Mateuses did not have a duty to protect Mrs. Jackson from their cat and that, absent a showing that the cat had attacked anyone before, the attack on Mrs. Jackson was unforeseeable. (See, R. 530).

However, Utah law, as articulated in Pullan v. Steinmetz, 16 P.3d 1245 (Utah 2000) and Salt Lake County's ordinances do not require a showing, in certain instances,

that an animal owner had prior knowledge of an animal's viciousness in order to hold them liable for their animal's attacks. The district court should have held the Mateuses liable for failing to restrain and control their cat and for failing to control their cat so as to prevent the attack on Mrs. Jackson. At the very least, the court should have allowed a jury to determine whether the Mateuses were negligent.

For purposes of their summary judgment motion, the Mateuses conceded that their cat attacked and injured Mrs. Jackson. The Mateuses submitted an affidavit in which they professed a lack of knowledge of their cat's vicious tendencies. However, contrary evidence was also submitted to the district court that the Mateuses' cat inflicted a vicious, unprovoked attack on Mrs. Jackson. Moreover, the trial court had evidence from Richard Jackson that the Mateuses' cat had also attacked him and that, as an owner of cats himself, it was his observation that the Mateuses' cat "had a mean streak." This evidence, and all inferences which can be drawn from it, viewed in a light most favorable to Mrs. Jackson, showed that the Mateuses knew or should have known of the vicious and ill-tempered tendencies of their cat. Based on the evidence before the trial court, summary judgment should not have been granted.

The district court also received evidence consisting of Salt Lake County Ordinance § 8.24.010, which defines a vicious animal as one which "bites, inflicts injury, assaults, or otherwise attacks a human being..." Salt Lake County Ord. § 8.24.010(B). Under a plain

reading of the § 8.24.010, prior knowledge of an animal's viciousness is irrelevant for purposes of imposing liability for injuries inflicted by an animal. This evidence presented a genuine issue of material fact as to the viciousness of the cat, and should have precluded summary judgment. The trial court erred in ignoring such evidence and in granting summary judgment for the Mateuses.

**POINT II:**

**DEFENDANTS SHOULD BE LIABLE  
FOR BREACHING THEIR COMMON  
LAW DUTIES TO CONTROL THEIR CAT.**

**a. The common law requires that pet owners control their animals.**

The district court erred in ruling, as a matter of law, that the Mateuses had no duty to control their cat. The court also erred in failing to rule that the Mateuses did not exercise reasonable care to keep their animal under control. Commentators, citing the common law, have recognized that domestic animal owners have a duty to control their pets:

[u]nder the common law, as articulated in the Restatement, Torts 2d § 518, even if the owner or keeper of a domesticated animal does not know or have reason to know that the animal is abnormally dangerous, he has a duty to exercise reasonable care to keep the animal under control.

Cheryl M. Bailey, Annotation, *Liability for Injuries Caused by Cat*, 68 ALR 4<sup>th</sup> 823, 829 (1989) (emphasis added). The Annotation also states: “[i]n some jurisdictions, statutes have abrogated that requirement [that owners know of their animal’s viciousness],

imposing liability on the owner or keeper of a domesticated animal even though he did not know of its viciousness or mischievous propensities.” *Id.* at 830.<sup>1</sup> In this case, at the very least, a genuine issue of material fact exists regarding whether the defendants exercised reasonable care in keeping their cat under control. The district court erred by failing to find that the Mateuses did not exercise reasonable care to keep their animal under control, especially in light of the fact that the cat had no right to be on the Jackson’s property when the attack occurred.

**b. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518 states that an animal owner has a duty to control its animals.**

Mrs. Jackson alleged in her Complaint that: “Defendants negligently failed to restrain and control their cat, proximately resulting in the attack and bite, and plaintiff’s injury and damages.” (R. 1.) Under the common law, an animal owner has a duty to exercise reasonable care to keep the animal under control. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518, articulates that duty and imposes a duty of reasonable care upon an animal owner to control its animals. Section 518 states in pertinent part:

one who possesses or harbors a domestic animal that he does not know or have reason to know to be abnormally dangerous, is subject to liability for harm done by the animal, but only if:

....

(b) he is negligent for failing to prevent the harm.

---

<sup>1</sup>As will be shown below, Utah has enacted such a statute. See, Utah Code Ann. § 18-1-1, et seq.



See also Drake v. Dean, 19 Cal. Rptr. 2d 325, 331 (Cal. App. 1993) (quoting Section 518 and stating that “[t]he common law recognizes negligence as a distinct legal theory of recovery for harm caused by domestic animals that are not abnormally dangerous.”)

Comment e of Section 518 states that animal owners are “under a duty to exercise reasonable care to have them under a constant and effective control.” Moreover, comment h of Section 518 mandates that an owner is “required to realize that even ordinarily gentle animals are likely to be dangerous under particular circumstances and to exercise reasonable care to prevent foreseeable harm.” Whether or not the Mateuses had prior knowledge of their cat’s viciousness, under common law, they can and should be held liable for injuries inflicted by their animal based on their failure to control the animal or their failure to take steps to prevent their animal from coming into contact, without their supervision, with other persons.

**c. Foreseeability under the Pullan v. Steinmetz case.**

This Court recently addressed the issue of whether to adopt Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 518 in Pullan v. Steinmetz, 16 P.3d 1245 (Utah 2000). The Court left for another day the decision whether to adopt Section 518. However, the day has come.

This Court, in Pullen, stated that the plaintiff could not show that harm to Arielle Pullen was unforeseeable because the defendants had no knowledge that the plaintiff or other children were entering the stables and feeding the horses. Id., 2000 UT 103, ¶ 13.

On its face, the case states that the harm was unforeseeable because the contact between human and animal was unforeseeable.<sup>2</sup>

In this case, the undisputed facts reveal that an entirely different situation occurred. The Mateuses claim the right to allow their cat to enter on the Jackson's private property. The Mateuses conceded that they made no effort to control their pet's activities and failed to prevent their cat from trespassing on others' property. (R. 133.) The Mateuses should have been aware that their cat would come into contact with other persons. They should have also known that "even ordinarily gentle animals are likely to be dangerous under particular circumstances" and that their cat's contact could result in an attack and harm to innocent persons. The reasoning set out by the Court in Pullan favors the adoption of Section 518 and application of that Section in this case to hold the Mateuses liable for the harm caused by their animal to Mrs. Jackson, because their cat's contact with others was foreseeable.

Reading Pullan and Looney v. Bingham Dairy, 260 P. 855 (1929), together, it is readily apparent that Utah courts have endeavored to create a balance between the right of animal ownership and the protection of innocent third parties from injury by those

---

<sup>2</sup> "Simply maintaining a horse in a stable in a residential subdivision **without any knowledge or reason to know that a child from outside the Association was frequenting the stables and hand feeding the horses without permission or supervision is an insufficient basis on which to predicate negligence on the part of the defendant.**" Pullan, 2000 UT 103 at ¶ 13. Emphasis added.

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