2001

Judith Campbell Jackson v. Robert Mateus and Kris Mateus : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Plaintiff relies on Utah Code Ann. § 18-1-1, commonly known as the “dog bite statute,” and other states dog bite statutes to demonstrate that the one free bite rule is falling into disfavor in our country. (See Appellant’s Brief at 8, 25-29). A diligent search of other courts across the country shows that *no* state imposes liability on a cat owner for his or her cat’s first bite *unless* the owner had prior knowledge of the cat’s vicious propensity. All the cases cited by the plaintiff that impose liability on the owner involve *dog* bites. Obviously, no court in America is willing to impose strict liability on a cat owner for a cat’s first unsuspected bite. Because of a cat’s usually docile nature, it does not make sense to keep it away from the public unless it displays a violent disposition. Significantly, Utah courts have applied the dog bite statute only to dogs, not to other animals, and have never imposed strict liability on a cat owner. See S.H. By and Through Robinson v. Bistryski, 923 P.2d 1376 (Utah 1996); Sharp v. Williams, 915 P.2d 495 (Utah 1996); Neztsosie v. Meyer, 883 P.2d 920 (Utah 1994).

Cats are different from dogs. Unlike some dogs, cats are not aggressive by nature and cat owners cannot be expected to anticipate that their cats might act in a vicious manner. This is demonstrated by virtue of the fact that numerous states have enacted statutes specifically addressing dog bites, but not cat bites. The enactment of our dog bite statute does not show any legislative intent to apply the same standard to incidents involving any other animal. “[M]ost statutes eliminating the necessity of

proving scienter specifically apply to dogs, and at least one court has rejected the view that such a statute extends by implication to owners or keepers of cats....” Cheryl M. Bailey, Liability for Injuries Caused by Cat, 68 ALR4th 823, 830 (1989).

American courts have consistently adhered to the common law position that cats are “domesticated animal[s] which are not naturally dangerous,” and cat owners do not owe a duty to others when their cats bite someone, unless they had notice of the animal’s tendency to be vicious:

Tradition, based on the experience that cats are so unlikely to do harm if left to themselves and so incapable of constant control if they are to serve as mousers, has permitted cats to run at large, while recognizing at the same time that there are circumstances under which it is negligent to allow them to do so.

Id. at 829. This position is based on the understanding that cats are not inherently dangerous as are other animals, like certain dogs.

Cat owners are entitled to summary judgment where they “put into the record positive evidence that they had no knowledge of the animal ever biting anyone before [and] the plaintiff [has] no evidence to the contrary.” Fellers v. Carson, 356 S.E.2d 658, 659 (Ga. App. 1987) (cat owner entitled to summary judgment where neighbor was bitten by cat as she attempted to remove cat from her own yard). Even if a cat has bitten someone before, it does not necessarily follow that the cat is a vicious animal. In Lee v. Weaver, 237 N.W.2d 149, 150-51 (Neb. 1976), a domestic worker brought an action against the owner of a cat to recover for injuries sustained from a cat

bite. That court held (1) knowledge of a cat's vicious or dangerous propensities is indispensable to liability on the part of the owner, and (2) evidence of a bite by a house cat on some prior occasion is not sufficient, by itself, to sustain a finding that the cat is vicious or dangerous, and factors such as provocation, or that the cat was engaged in play when the prior bite occurred, ought to be considered. Id.

In a case with similar facts to this one, Van Houten v. Pritchard, 870 S.W.2d 377, 380 (Ark. 1994), plaintiff was bit by a cat and underwent four surgeries and incurred \$39,000 in medical bills, but he failed to prove the cat had a propensity toward violence or that defendants violated any leash law. The court held that "the owner of a domestic cat may permit his cat to run at large unless it has shown a propensity toward violence, or unless an ordinance or statute provides otherwise". See also, Harris v. O'Higgins, 2000 WL 306717, 3 (Mass. App. Div. 2000) (cat owner not liable to plaintiff bitten in an unprovoked attack on her back porch since she did not advance a scintilla of evidence that cat had vicious propensities of which defendants should have been aware); Dubroca and Marsalis v. La Salle, 94 So.2d 120, 123 (La. App. 1957) (cat owner not liable for cat bite since cat never exhibited vicious traits before); Boyer v. Seal, 534 So.2d 30 (La. App. 1988), cert. granted, 538 So.2d 600, affirmed 553 So.2d 827 (cat owner not liable to injured plaintiff who fell after cat brushed up against her because plaintiff could not show cat was aggressive or inherently dangerous).

Here, there is no evidence that the defendants' house cat had any dangerous or vicious propensities or that it had bitten anyone before. Plaintiff does not allege a previous bite had occurred, and defendants affirmatively state that their cat has never bitten anyone before plaintiff received her bite. The defendants should not be held liable for the unanticipated behavior of their cat--even if it can be shown that it was actually their cat that did the biting, which they strongly dispute--because they could not have guessed that it would bite anyone in the first place.

B. Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518 Is Not the Law in Utah, but Even Under That Standard Defendants Are Not Negligent.

Analyzing plaintiff's negligence theory in Pullan, the court first noted that the test in Utah for imposing liability on a domestic animal owner was last expressed sometime ago. In Looney v. Bingham Dairy, 70 Utah 398, 260 P. 855, 857 (1927), the court held that "when a domestic animal is rightly at the place where the injury occurs, the owner is not liable unless the viciousness of the animal and knowledge of such fact on the part of the owner are shown." Pullan, 16 P.3d at 1247 (*citing Looney*, 260 P2d at 857). The plaintiff in Pullan urged the court to relax the Looney test and adopt the negligence standard contained in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518, which sets out when an owner of a domestic animal that is not known to be abnormally dangerous can be held liable:

§ 518. Liability for Harm Done by Domestic Animals That
Are Not Abnormally Dangerous

Except for animal trespass, one who possesses or harbors a domestic animal that he does not know or have reason to know to be abnormally dangerous, is subject to liability for harm done by the animal if, but only if,

...
(b) *he is negligent in failing to prevent the harm.*

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518 (emphasis added).⁵

The only way that plaintiff can point to any liability on the part of the defendants is if she can show that they somehow were negligent in failing to prevent the harm allegedly suffered by her. The plaintiff in Pullan pointed to comment h of § 518 for the proposition that “even normally gentle animals are likely to be dangerous under particular circumstances.” 16 P.3d at 1248. The plaintiff here points to the same proposition and alleges that defendants “should have been aware that their cat would come into contact with other persons” and that such “contact could result in an attack and harm to innocent persons.” (See Appellant’s Brief at 15). However, it would be highly speculative for a cat owner to believe that, since his or her cat could get in close proximity to a human being, the cat would therefore bite or harm that person. Although a cat’s coming into contact with a human is likely, it is highly improbable that a cat would harm someone.

In the case at bar, the cat was in a typical place where no extenuating circumstances would have suggested that it would behave aggressively. Plaintiff invited

⁵ Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518, with comments, is attached hereto as Addendum E.

the cat to come toward her so she could pet it. She did nothing to provoke or worry the cat, and its bite was as much a surprise to her as it was to defendants. Defendants had no reason to know they should keep it at home or keep it off plaintiff's property. This was a fluke incident that defendants could not have anticipated.

The comments to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 518 further illustrate that defendants are not negligent under that standard. Since plaintiff can bring forth no evidence to show that defendants should have taken precautions to confine or leash their cat or otherwise keep it under constant control (as indicated by comment e); since the amount of care that the defendants exercised was commensurate with that of their breed of cat (as suggested by comment f); since defendants possessed knowledge of their cat's normal characteristics (as required by comment g); and since their animal was not dangerous under the particular circumstances here of roaming at large (comment h); they cannot be held to have been negligent in failing to prevent any harm to anyone. Therefore, plaintiff's reliance on the Restatement still cannot impose liability on defendants.

Pullan rejected adopting as the law of Utah the standards of liability contained in § 518 saying that, even under the Restatement standard, the plaintiff could not establish a *prima facie* case of negligence against the defendants *because there was no evidence that the harm to the plaintiff was foreseeable*. See Pullan, 16 P.3d at 1247 (emphasis added). This Court pointed out that defendants had no prior knowledge that a

potential hazard existed to children who entered the stables and fed the horses without permission. “Without knowing that or having reason to know that, a jury could not find defendants negligent.” Id.

What mattered in Pullan is what matters in this case: whether a defendant animal owner can foresee that the animal will cause harm to others. Without knowledge of his or her animal's potential for viciousness, an owner cannot be charged with negligence for allowing it to behave as other animals similarly situated. Just as in Pullan, the defendants here had no knowledge that their housecat had any vicious propensity. Without this knowledge, the law in Utah is that a cat owner cannot be held liable for his or her cat's first unforeseeable bite. Without the ability to foresee and prevent harm, there is no duty on a cat owner to keep a house cat confined. Since plaintiff could not establish a *prima facie* case of negligence against defendants, summary judgment was appropriate.

1. Defendants’ Cat Was Rightly at the Place Where the Injury Occurred.

In the Pullan and Looney horse bite cases, the courts noted that, when an animal is “rightly at the place where the injury occurs,” the owner is not liable for any harm unless the owner had knowledge of the animal’s propensity for viciousness. Pullan, 16 P.3d at 1248 (*citing* Looney, 260 P. at 857). Plaintiff alleges that defendants’ cat was not rightly on defendants’ property when the injury occurred and that, therefore, defendants need not have had any knowledge of their cat’s propensity for viciousness for liability to attach to them for the attack. (See Appellant’s Brief, at 16).

Although defendants' cat may not have been specifically invited to enter the outside boundaries of plaintiff's property, it was never prevented from doing so and was free to roam about because it had no known dangerous tendencies. Once the cat was inside her property line and on her deck, plaintiff actually summoned the cat to pet it, indicating that she had no objection to its presence. Plaintiff does not allege that she did not allow cats (including defendants' cat) on her property. In fact, since plaintiff herself owns cats, she should have expected other cats might be attracted to her home. Her own cat may have been outside roaming, or had been on occasion, because she initially thought this was her own cat. Once a cat is roaming outside, its owner has about as much control over it as does any other person. Cats are by their nature very independent, and our society has come to allow them easy access to almost any outdoor venue.

To say that the cat was an "unwelcome trespasser" (see Appellant's Brief at 17) is inaccurate since it did not become unwelcome until after it bit plaintiff's hand. This cat had never displayed any fierce, vicious, or dangerous behavior that would have suggested to defendants that they needed to restrain it. Plaintiff cannot point to one ordinance or statute that prohibits a cat with unknown vicious tendencies from freely roaming.

For support of the proposition that defendants' cat was trespassing, plaintiff cites Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-64, which deals with livestock that run at large; and Utah Code Ann. § 4-25-4 deals with agricultural estrays, such as sheep, cattle, horses, mules,

and swine (as defined in U.C.A. § 4-25-1). These statutes are inapposite since they were obviously enacted to protect from harm caused by farm animals that do not freely roam our communities. Agricultural animals are difficult to manage because of their size and dispositions. Cats do not pose these risks.

POINT III

THE SALT LAKE COUNTY ORDINANCES DO NOT APPLY TO DEFENDANTS.

Plaintiff states that defendants violated Salt Lake County Ordinances and that this is “evidence of negligence” on the part of defendants. Salt Lake County Ordinance § 8.24.010, which imposes liability in some circumstances on an animal owner for an animal bite, reads in pertinent part:

- A. Any owner or person having charge, care, custody or control of an animal or animals *causing a nuisance*, as defined below, shall be in violation of this title and subject to the penalties provided in this title.
- B. The following shall be deemed *a nuisance*:
 - 1. Any animal which:
 - ...
 - b. Is a *vicious animal* as defined in this title *and* kept contrary to Section 8.24.030 below.

(Emphasis added.)

A "vicious animal" is defined as:

- A. Any animal which, in a vicious and terrorizing manner approaches any person in apparent attitude of attack

upon the streets, sidewalks, or any public grounds or places;

- B. Any animal with a *known* propensity, tendency or disposition to attack or to cause injury or otherwise endanger the safety of human beings or animals; or
- C. *Any animal which bites*, inflicts injury, assaults, or otherwise attacks a human being or domestic animal on public or private property.

Salt Lake County Ordinance § 8.04.210 (emphasis added).

Salt Lake County Ordinance § 8.24.030 addresses the proper method of keeping and restraining a vicious animal from the public. It reads:

It is unlawful for the owner of any fierce, dangerous or vicious animal to permit such animal to go or be off the premises of the owner *unless such animal is under restraint and properly muzzled* so as to prevent it from injuring any person or property. Every animal so vicious and dangerous that it cannot be controlled by reasonable restraints, *and every dangerous and vicious animal not effectively controlled by its owner or person having charge, care or control of such animal, so that it shall not injure any person or property, is a hazard to public safety*, and the director of animal services shall seek a court order pursuant to Section 8.40.010 for destruction of or muzzling of the animal.

(Emphasis added.)

Under these ordinances, an animal and its owner are a hazard to the public if the animal causes a nuisance by virtue of being 1) vicious and 2) not properly restrained. Plaintiff advocates construing these ordinances to mean that an owner is liable when its animal attacks a person, “even where an owner may not know of the

animal's vicious propensities.” (See Appellant's Brief at 22.) However, this narrow interpretation would seem to have the effect of imposing strict liability on owners of *any* house pet at the moment of its first bite.

Our counties have general powers to promote the safety and welfare of their inhabitants.⁶ When an ordinance and a statute could be read to be at odds with each other, the general rule of judicial interpretation is:

“Ordinances are to be construed in light of, and in harmony with, applicable provisions of charter, state law, constitution, and public policy. . . .an ordinance enacted pursuant to a statute should be construed by reading it with the statute, and if the language of both is in substance alike the presumption is indulged that the ordinance was designed to follow the statute.”

Murray City v. Hall, 663 P.2d 1314, 1317 (Utah 1993) (citations omitted). When construing an ordinance, “the primary responsibility of this Court is to give effect to the Legislature's underlying intent.” Id.

Plaintiff's interpretation of liability on any unwitting animal owner would be in contravention of what the county council intended and against public policy because it would result in an unreasonable standard that would necessitate the confinement of all animals, regardless of their harmless nature. It would be in disharmony with and improperly stretch our dog bite statute to other animals and render the ordinances

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